2013 SEP 12 ANILISTON BY STATE OF WASHINGTON

l

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

No. 43114-9-II

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 13, 2013, a panel of the Court of Appeals (COA) filed its Opinion affirming the trial judgment in this matter. Appellant now seeks to overrule that Opinion.

### II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant is a Public Employees' Retirement System Plan 1 ("PERS I") retiree who retired from state service on January 1, 1999 after exactly 30 years of employment. CP 398.

Pursuant to RCW 41.40.020 the Department of Retirement Services ("DRS" or "Respondent" interchangeably) has the responsibility to administer and manage governmental retirement systems according to the provisions of Ch. 41.40 RCW, including the calculation of monthly retirement benefits for Plan 1 members at the time they retire. A Plan 1 member's retirement benefit is based on a formula of 2% x service credit x Average Annual Compensation ("AFC"). See RCW 41.40.185(2) and CP 98 and 405. A Plan 1 member's AFC is the annual average of that member's compensation during his or her two consecutive highest earning years. RCW 41.40.010(8)(a).

APPELLANT'S MOTION AND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF HIS MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT Jeffrey D. Stier, Attorney at Law 1801 West Bay Dr. NW, Ste.205 Olympia WA 98502 Phone (360) 753-2078 Fax (360) 754-9472

In the case of Appellant his PERS 1 retirement benefit was calculated at the rate of \$3,080.53. CP 101 and 408.

On May 5, 1999, DRS sent a letter to Appellant indicating that a post-retirement audit had been performed that indicated that his AFC was \$5,134.21. CP 398. This version of Appellant's AFC included a credit for unused annual leave accumulated during his high two (2) years of annual compensation. CP 100 and 407. Accordingly, Appellant received a monthly "defined payment" benefit from DRS based upon his of \$5,134.21 (subject to various survivorship elections) from the date of his retirement on January 1, 1999, until DRS reconsidered that finding in August 2010. CP 100 and 407.

Unbeknownst to Appellant, allegedly following a statutory mandate, DRS promulgated WAC 415-108-510 on July 25, 1999 (after Appellant's retirement date), which, according to DRS, provided that the "first-in, first-out" rule ("FIFO") should have excluded consideration of annual leave because that annual leave was used up by the time of Appellant's retirement. CP 124-139 and 564. Despite this fact, Appellant has continued to receive his monthly retirement benefit calculated with respect to his AFC of \$5,134.21 to August 31, 2010, with applicable cost of living and survivorship adjustments. CP 100-103 and 407-410.

In 2010, the Appellantf contacted the Department to advise that he had remarried. Apparently as a result of that and following contacts, DRS recalculated Appellant's retirement benefit. CP 102 and 407.

This case began with DRS' August 23, 2010, decision (memorialized by letters to Appellant dated August 23, 2010) to reduce Appellant's AFC to \$4,860.98 retroactively to the

.

date of his retirement (subject to the 3-year statute of limitations) and in the future so long as he continued living. This version of his AFC did not include a credit for unused annual leave accumulated during his high two (2) years of annual compensation, being June 1, 1990,

through May 31, 1992. See CP 122, 126-129 564.

DRS responded to a Public Records Request of Appellant ("PDR Response" by letter dated October 13, 2010, indicating that the FIFO promulgated after Appellants retirement in WAC 415-108-510 proscribes consideration of annual leave in computing a PERS 1 retiree's AFC in a situation where AFC was not in the last two years immediately preceding retirement. CP 123, 134-148 and 564. In that PDR Response, DRS included an e-mail to an interested person dated May 3, 2010, stating:

In determining your benefit calculation, we are only able to use the salary and leave earned during your highest 24-month AFC period. For most individuals, this is the last 24month period prior to retirement. However, in some situations-like yours, the highest 24-month period may not be the last 24 months of employment. The FIFO accounting rule allows us to determine in which months the cashed out leave was earned. With the FIFO rule, the leave you used while still employed is considered to be the oldest leave accrued. The leave that is paid out at retirement is considered to be the unused leave that was earned during your employment and is therefore reportable compensation to DRS.

CP 138 and 564.

DRS' October 13, 2010, PDR Response also included copies of power point training to DRS staff members to the effect that under the FIFO rule, DRS could exclude a portion of, or all, annual leave in the AFC calculation where a retiree's AFC was calculated on a two (2) year period that did not immediately precede his/her retirement. CP 139-146 and 564.

On December 9, 2010, Appellant commenced a Damages lawsuit (the "Damages

Case") in Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 10-2-02666-2 seeking to provide

APPELLANT'S MOTION AND BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF HIS MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT Jeffrey D. Stier, Attorney at Law 1801 West Bay Dr. NW, Ste.205 Olympia WA 98502 Phone (360) 753-2078 Fax (360) 754-9472 damages in the case of lost retirement benefits upon invalidation of the application of WAC 415-108-510 to Appellant and those similarly situated. CP 6-30. On January 19, 2011, Appellant commenced another case, Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 11-2-00169-2 (the "Rules Revision Case") to invalidate the contention that WAC 415-108-510 required Respondent to ignore annual leave that was cashed out in AFC years under FIFO. That case also involved a potential class action for those retirees who were similarly situated. CP 618-645. Appellant did not seek an administrative hearing under RCW 34.05.542(2) prior to filing either lawsuit. Both cases were consolidated.<sup>1</sup>

Both cases were eventually dismissed by the trial court (the Damages case on May 13, 2011, and the Rules Revision Case on January 27, 2012, 2011), for an alleged failure to exhaust administrative remedies-i.e. for Appellant's failure to appeal the administrative decision within thirty (30) days. CP 331-332 and 614-615. In addition, the dismissal order for the Rules Case specifically found that ". . . Appellant has failed to establish the futility exception to the exhaustion of remedies requirement." CP 615.

Appellant appealed those dismissals to the Court of Appeals, Division II, claiming that the case raised the issue of the constitutionality of Respondents actions under the case of *Bowles v Retirements System*, 121 Wn. 2d 52, 847 P. 2d 440 (1993) and the issues revolve around jurisdiction granted by RCW 34.05.570 which gives the Court jurisdiction to hear legal questions involving constitutional issues that are either "direct" or "applied." Unfortunately, the Court of Appeals rejected Appellant's arguments to this effect and filed its opinion on September 13, 2013. A copy of that Opinion is attached.

<sup>1</sup> The consolidation was for the convenience of the parties and Court only. In the Consolidation Order both cases retained their separate cause numbers and identity.
APPELLANT'S MOTION AND BRIEF 5 Jeffrey D. Stier, Attorney at Law

A Motion for Reconsideration of that Opinion was filed and served on September 3,

2013. That matter remains pending. The sole purpose of this Motion for Discretionary Review

is to make sure that Appellant has timely filed his motion to the Supreme Court in this matter.

A copy of Appellant's Reconsideration Brief is attached.

### III. SUMMARY OF GROUNDS FOR RELIEF

# A. A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved.

As stated above this case is premised upon constitutional issues raised by the case of *Bowles*, Infra, and, as such, must necessarily involve a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

To deny Appellant his legal review of these constitutional issues on the grounds that Appellant failed to exhaust his administrative remedies is, in itself, a usurpation of Appellant's exercise of constitutional rights.

Further, denial of any right to effect discovery and cross-examination represents a

denial of Appellant's Constitutional Due Process rights to know and confront the evidence

against him.

# B. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals.

The Opinion of the Court of Appeals is completely at odds with other decisions of the Court of Appeals, whether Division 2 or other Divisions.

# C. The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The public interest in the resolution of constitutional issues on the merits is involved.

### IV. ARGUMENT

### A. Standard of Review for Motion for Discretionary Review.

There are four (4) grounds<sup>2</sup> for a grant of discretionary review by the Supreme Court

set forth in RAP 13.4. This matter meets three out of four requirements for discretionary

review. These three grounds are addressed below.

# **B.** A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved.

As stated above this case is premised upon constitutional issues raised in the case of

Bowles Infra, and, as such, must necessarily involve a significant question of law under the

Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or

Jeffrey D. Stier, Attorney at Law 1801 West Bay Dr. NW, Ste.205 Olympia WA 98502 Phone (360) 753-2078 Fax (360) 754-9472

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RAP 13.4 (b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

<sup>(1)</sup> If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

<sup>(3)</sup> If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

<sup>(4)</sup> If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

To deny Appellant his legal review of these constitutional issues on the grounds that Appellant failed to exhaust his administrative remedies is, in itself, a usurpation of Appellant's exercise of constitutional rights.

Further, denial of any right to effect discovery and cross-examination represents a denial of Appellant's Constitutional Due Process rights to know and confront the evidence against him under U.S. Constitution, Amnd XIV and Washington State Constitution, Article 1, §3. See *Cuddy v State Department of Public Assistance*, 74 Wn.2d 17, 19, 442 P. 2d 617 (1968); Also see *Little v Rhay*, 8 Wn App 725, 509 P. 2nd 92 (1973). The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an orderly proceeding adapted to the nature of the case. *Cuddy*, supra at 74 Wn.2d 19. To be thrown out of Court because of an inapplicable rule is certainly not an orderly proceeding where Appellant was offered an opportunity to present his case against the government.

# C. The decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals.

While the specific issue of whether challenge to the application of a rule may be dismissed for failure to exhaust administrative remedies within thirty (30) days<sup>3</sup> may be of first impression, the decision on the Court of Appeals is completely at odds with other decisions of the Court of Appeals, whether Division 2 or other Divisions. See *Alpine Lakes Protection Soc. v Washington State Dept. of Ecology*, 135 Wn.App. 376, 144 P.2d 385, as amended, rev. den. 162 Wn.2d 1014, 178 P.3rd 1032 (2006) and *Schreiber v Riemcke*, 11 Wa.App. 873, 526 P2d 904 (1974).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Only because that decision flounts the clear authority of RCW 34.05.570 .APPELLANT'S MOTION AND BRIEF8IN SUPPORT OF HIS MOTION FOR1801 West Bay Dr. NW, Ste.205DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE0lympia WA 98502SUPREME COURTPhone (360) 753-2078Fax (360) 754-9472

# D. The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The action at bar denies Appellant the right to pursue his rights under the constitution. In addition, it denies the Appellant the right to challenge a reduction of his income by Respondent. Certainly the public interest in the resolution of constitutional issues on the merits is involved.

The test for "substantial public interest" contains one of five core issues:

(1) whether the issue is of a public or private nature;

(2) whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers;

(3) whether the issue is likely to recur.

(4) the "level of genuine adverseness and the quality of advocacy of the issues; and

(5) "'the likelihood that the issue will escape review because the facts of the controversy are short-lived. *In re Marriage of Horner*, 151 Wn.2d 884, 891, 93 P.3d 124 (2004).

The case at bar meets all of these tests and surely must satisfy at least one. The first 3 tests are considered preeminent and will be addressed here:

### Whether the issue is of a public or private nature.

The case at bar is a class action. Although that issue is not relevant to the issues before the Court of Appeals and, therefore, discovery on that point is not yet part of the record, suffice it to say that numerous individuals are similarly situated to Appellant. it is the likelihood that additional plaintiffs have been or will be injured in exactly the same fashion that changes a

factual pattern from a private dispute to one that affects the public interest. *McRae v. Bolstad*, 101 Wn.2d 161, 166, 676 P.2d 496 (1984).

In addition, "as applied" challenges to governmental activities have been deemed to involve a "substantial public interest." *Dioxin/Organochlorine Center v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 131 Wn.2d 345, 352, 932 P.2d 158 (1997).

# Whether an authoritative determination is desirable to provide future guidance to public officers

The record indisputably shows that DRS employees were trained that the FIFO rule required them to exclude a portion of, or all, annual leave in the AFC calculation where a retiree's AFC was calculated on a two (2) year period that did not immediately precede his/her retirement. CP 139-146 and 564. A decision of the Court in this regard would go far to change that training premise.

### Whether the issue is likely to recur.

Appellant concedes that PERS 1 retirees are diminishing due to the passage of time. However, Appellant's example is evidence that this issue can come out of nowhere to bite a PERS 1 retiree long after the PERS 1 retiree has retired. Appellant cannot point to any case where that might occur because that case hasn't been uncovered yet, but it is not inconceivable that that case is still out there, just as Appellant's case was out there until discovered by DRS.

### V. CONCLUSION

Appellant asks this Court to accept discretionary review of this matter. the grounds for this under RAP 13.4 are (1) A significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; (2) The decision of the Court of Appeals is in **APPELLANT'S MOTION AND BRIEF** 10 Jeffrey D. Stier, Attorney at Law IN SUPPORT OF HIS MOTION FOR 1801 West Bay Dr. NW, Ste.205

IN SUPPORT OF HIS MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; and (3) The petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

These three grounds have been satisfied justifying acceptance of discretionary review by this Court.