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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Court of Appeals' Unpublished Decision Applied the Plain 
Meaning of the APA and Settled Law to Undisputed Facts 

This case involves straightforward application of the plain 

language of the AP A and settled principles of law to the undisputed 

relevant facts. The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision rejected 

Mr. Swanson's contention that his lawsuits fell within the ambit of 

RCW 34.05.570(2)(b)(i) as a rule challenge to which RCW 34.05.542(1) 

makes no filing deadline applicable. Swanson, slip op. at 5-6, 7. 

The Court of Appeals was correct that those statutes, by their own 

terms, eliminate the 30-day filing deadline for challenges to two things 

only: challenges to a rule itself and challenges to the "threatened 

application" of a rule, neither of which is what Mr. Swanson is 

challenging. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Mr. Swanson 

is challenging the Department's action applying the first-in-first-out rule 

to him; that the 30-day filing deadline in RCW 34.05.542(3) applied to 

16 Mr. Swanson filed a motion for reconsideration in the Court of Appeals. 
Contrary to the contention in his Petition, that motion is not pending. Pet. at 6. The 
Court of Appeals denied his motion on September 12, 2013. 
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that challenge; and that Mr. Swanson missed that filing deadline when he 

filed his lawsuits in December 2010 and January 20 II. I d. 

The Court of Appeals also correctly applied settled law when it 

determined that Mr. Swanson's failure to timely file his lawsuits resulted 

in a failure to invoke the superior court's subject matter jurisdiction. 

Swanson, slip op. at I, 5-6, 7. Courts have repeatedly held that strict 

compliance with the APA's filing and service requirements are necessary 

to invoke the court's appellate subject matter jurisdiction. Diehl, 

I 53 Wn.2d at 217; Skagit Surveyors & Engineers, LLC v. Friends of 

Skagit Cnty., I35 Wn.2d 542, 555, 958 P.2d 962 (1998); Union Bay Pres. 

Coal. v. Cosmos Dev. & Admin. Corp., I27 Wn.2d 6I4, 6I7-I8, 

902 P.2d I247 (1995). 

Finally, the Court of Appeals properly applied settled law when it 

affirmed that failure to invoke the superior court's subject matter 

jurisdiction required dismissal. Swanson, slip op. at 1, 7. Courts have 

repeatedly held that when a court lacks subject matter jurisdiction, 

dismissal is the only permissible action the court may take. Knight v. City 

of Yelm, I73 Wn.2d 325, 337, 267 P.3d 973 (201I); Skagit Surveyors, 

135 Wn.2d at 556. 
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B. Mr. Swanson's Petition Does Not Identify Any Significant 
Constitutional Issue; There Is None in This Case 

Mr. Swanson contends that this Court should grant review under 

RAP 13.4(b)(3) for three reasons: (1) his lawsuits were "premised upon 

constitutional issues raised by the case of Bowles," (2) dismissal for failure 

to exhaust remedies prevented him from asserting his Bowles claim, and 

(3) dismissal violated his due process rights to "effect discovery and cross-

examination" and to participate in an orderly proceeding. Pet. at 6. 

Mr. Swanson has failed to demonstrate that any of his three contentions 

rmse significant constitutional issues warranting review under 

RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

First, Mr. Swanson has not justified discretionary review on the 

basis that his Rules Revision Case included a substantive constitutional 

claim 17 under Bowles. 18 His constitutional claim played no role in the 

decisions below because settled law required dismissal of the Rules 

Revision Case when Mr. Swanson failed to comply with the APA 30-day 

filing deadline. He provides no citation to authority or reasoned argument 

17 CP at 369, ~ 1.11. Mr. Swanson contended that the Department's action was 
an unconstitutional violation of his vested pension rights. Mr. Swanson did not assert 
that claim in his Damages Case. CP at 6-30. As a result, Mr. Swanson cannot justify 
review of the Damages Case on the basis that the Damages Case raises a significant 
constitutional issue. 

18 The Bowles case held that the Department generally may not change a 
consistently applied administrative practice because doing so would violate public 
employees' vested contractual pension rights. Bowles, 121 Wn.2d at 65, 68. As 
explained in the Response Brief of the Department of Retirement Systems at 37-43, filed 
in the Court of Appeals, Mr. Swanson's claims regarding Bowles lack merit. 
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that such a dismissal raises a significant constitutional issue justifying 

discretionary review whenever a dismissed lawsuit contains a 

constitutional claim. 

Second, Mr. Swanson has not justified discretionary review on the 

basis that a significant constitutional issue is raised whenever a lawsuit 

containing a constitutional claim is dismissed for failure to exhaust 

administrative remedies. At the outset, Mr. Swanson's argument is based 

on an incomplete description of the superior court's decision. As 

described above, the superior court dismissed Mr. Swanson's lawsuits for 

failure to invoke the court's subject matter jurisdiction, not because he 

failed to exhaust his administrative remedies. Swanson, slip op. at 1. 

Although in the Rules Revision Case, the superior court also 

dismissed for failure to exhaust remedies, dismissal of Mr. Swanson's 

lawsuits was required nonetheless for failure to comply with the APA. 

The court's alternate ground for dismissal in the Rules Revision Case was 

essentially superfluous and not grounds for accepting review. 

Moreover, even if the superior court had dismissed exclusively for 

failure to exhaust remedies, Mr. Swanson did not assign error or argue 

below that dismissal for failure to exhaust remedies is constitutionally 

impermissible whenever a lawsuit includes a constitutional claim. 

Appellant's Am. Opening Br. at 1-2, 14-15, filed in the Court of Appeals. 

14 



He also provides no citation to authority or reasoned argument that such a 

dismissal raises a significant constitutional question justifying 

discretionary review. 

Third, Mr. Swanson's contention that discretionary revtew ts 

justified because dismissal denied him a procedural due process "right to 

effect discovery and cross-examination" and to an orderly proceeding 

below is fatally flawed on multiple grounds. Pet. at 6, 8. He did not 

assign error below on this basis. 19 His right to discovery in superior court 

was unrestricted, and he freely exercised that right. CP at 583-595. 

If he had complied with the pension statutes and the APA, he 

would have had an additional right to discovery during the administrative 

review process before the Department. WAC 415-08-280. He had no 

right to cross-examination because judicial review under the APA is on 

the record. RCW 34.05.558, RCW 34.05.562. 

He had access to-but refused to exercise-his right to an orderly 

proceeding in the Department's administrative review process, 20 and he 

has not explained how dismissal for failure to invoke the superior court's 

subject matter jurisdiction constitutes a proceeding that is not orderly 

under procedural due process principles. 

19 Appellant's Am. Opening Br. at 1-2 filed in the Court of Appeals. 
20 RCW 34.05.413-476; WAC 415-04; WAC 415-08. 
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Moreover, the two cases Mr. Swanson cites do not support his 

argument. The supreme court in Cuddy v. State, Dep 't of Pub. Assistance, 

74 Wn.2d 17, 19, 442 P.2d 617 (1968), reiterated that procedural due 

process requires fair administrative hearings, including an opportunity to 

be heard in an orderly proceeding and to know and meet opposing claims. 

The court in Little v. Rhay, 8 Wn. App. 725, 729, 509 P.2d 92 (1973), held 

that a habeas corpus petitioner had been denied a full and fair evidentiary 

hearing on an alleged waiver of a right to jury trial when the trial court 

denied the writ application based solely on conflicting affidavits. Neither 

Cuddy nor Little involved or discussed procedural due process when a 

court dismisses a lawsuit for failure to comply with statutory deadlines for 

appealing under the AP A. 21 

C. Mr. Swanson's Petition Does Not Identify Any Conflict 
Between the Court of Appeals' Decision and Any Other Court 
of Appeals Decision 

Mr. Swanson next contends that discretionary review is proper 

under RAP 13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts 

with two other Court of Appeals decisions: Alpine Lakes Prot. Soc y v. 

Wash. State Dep't of Ecology, 135 Wn. App. 376, 144 P.3d 385 (2006) 

and Schreiber v. Riemcke, 11 Wn. App. 873, 526 P.2d 904 (1974). 

21 Indeed, had Mr. Swanson sought an administrative hearing before the 
Department as required, he would have been accorded exactly the sort of fair hearing 
described in Cuddy. RCW 34.05.410-.476; WAC 415-08. 
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Pet. at 8. His contention is meritless because neither case conflicts with 

the Court of Appeals' decision here. 

Alpine Lakes contains a straightforward analysis of the substantive 

propriety of agency rulemaking and denial of a petition for rulemaking. 

135 Wn. App. at 379, 381. Schreiber reiterates that exhaustion of 

remedies is required unless one of the exceptions to the requirement 

applies. 11 Wn. App. at 906. Neither case addressed the basis for the 

Court of Appeals' decision here: statutory filing deadlines under the APA 

and dismissal for failure to invoke a reviewing court's subject matter 

jurisdiction. Thus, there is no conflict. 

Moreover, even if the court had dismissed for failure to exhaust, 

there would be no conflict because Alpine Lakes doesn't address 

exhaustion, and Schreiber allows (but does not require) a trial court to 

excuse exhaustions where the issue is purely legal and beyond the 

expertise of the agency. Here, the issue was neither purely legal nor 

beyond the expertise of the agency because the claim was that the 

Department had improperly calculated Mr. Swanson's benefits. There is 

no conflict with Alpine Lakes, Schreiber, or any other relevant appellate 

decision. 
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D. The Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public 
Interest Requiring a Determination by This Court 

Mr. Swanson's final contention is that discretionary review is 

appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because his lawsuits involve an issue of 

substantial public interest. He has not demonstrated that his petition 

involves any issue of substantial public interest justifying discretionary 

review. 

He first states that the case is a class action and dismissal of his 

case is public in nature because "numerous persons are similarly situated 

to the Appellant." Pet. at 9-10. However, he does not support this 

contention with any citation to the record. To the contrary, a class was 

never certified, and the evidence in the record is that: (I) the Department's 

action was an isolated mistake rather than Department policy or practice; 

and (2) the Department correctly applied the first-in-first-out rule to 

similarly situated employees. CP at 419, ~ 6-7; CP at 409, ~ 12. Thus, 

Mr. Swanson has not demonstrated any "likelihood that additional 

plaintiffs have been or will be injured in exactly the same fashion." 

Pet. at 9-10. 

He then states that authoritative guidance from this Court is 

necessary because the Department trained its employees to apply its first-

in-first-out rule. Pet. at 10. The fact that the Department trained its 
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employees to apply the first-in-first-out rule is irrelevant with regard to 

whether dismissal of Mr. Swanson's lawsuits was required when he failed 

to invoke the superior court's subject matter jurisdiction. On this issue, 

the Court of Appeals correctly applied the plain and ordinary meaning of 

the APA and the pension statutes to the undisputed facts of this case. 

There is no conflict with any other decision of the Court of Appeals. As a 

result, there is no need for authoritative guidance from this Court. 

Finally, Mr. Swanson seems to contend that the issues m his 

lawsuits are likely to recur; at the same time, however, he expressly 

concedes that he "cannot point to any case where that might occur." 

Pet. at 10. The only purported evidence he offers regarding recurrence is 

his speculation that "it is not inconceivable that that case is still out there." 

!d. These statements do not establish that a recurrence is likely. 

V. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above, the Department asks the Court to 

deny Mr. Swanson's Petition.